IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAVID ALVAREZ VENTURA,

No.: 81850

Electronically Filed Jun 01 2021 10:11 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

JOHN H. GANSER, M.D. LIC #9279; GOMEZ KOZAR; AND MCELREATH AND SMITH, A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION,

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM
ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO DISMISS WITHOUT PREJUDICE
SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
WASHOE COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA
HONORABLE BARRY L. BRESLOW, DISTRICT JUDGE

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Signed: June 1, 2021

NEAL S. KROKOSKY (SBN 14799C)

CAESARS ENTERPRISE SERVICES, LLC

One Caesars Palace Drive

Las Vegas, NV 89109

Telephone: (702) 407-6499

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

"A party who is aggrieved by an appealable judgment or order may appeal from that judgment or order" NRAP 3A(a). "A party is 'aggrieved' within the meaning of NRAP 3A(a) 'when either a personal right or right of property is adversely and substantially affected' by a district court's ruling." *Valley Bank v. Ginsburg*, 110 Nev. 440, 446, 874 P.2d 729, 734 (1994) (citation omitted).

On September 4, 2020, the district court entered an order dismissing this matter without prejudice and without leave to amend. (J.App.091-J.App.097.)¹ On September 8, 2020, counsel for the defendants-respondents, John H. Ganser M.D. and Gomez, Kozar, McElreath and Smith, a Professional Corporation (individually, "Gomez;" collectively with Ganser, "G&G"),² served a Notice of Entry of Order of the dismissal. (J.App.098-J.App.106.) Accordingly, the plaintiff-appellant, David Alvarez Ventura, was permitted to file a notice of appeal on or before October 8, 2020. *See* NRAP 4(a)(1).

On September 24, 2020, Ventura filed a timely notice of appeal. (J.App.107-J.App.108.) Although the district court claimed to dismiss the matter "without

¹ "J.App.__" refers to page numbers of the Joint Appendix filed herewith.

² The caption in this appeal currently reads: "JOHN H. GANSER, M.D. LIC #9279; GOMEZ KOZAR; AND MCELREATH AND SMITH, A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION." The second semicolon suggests that there are three defendants-respondents. In fact, there are only two. The Court may want to correct the caption to read: "JOHN H. GANSER M.D. LIC #9279; GOMEZ, KOZAR, MCELREATH AND SMITH, A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION."

prejudice," the effect of its order – in which it concluded that Ventura's complaint was fatally deficient because it did not include an expert affidavit and, separately, because it prohibited Ventura from filing an amended complaint – was a dismissal with prejudice. See Valley Bank, 110 Nev. at 445, 874 P.2d at 733 (citation omitted) ("This court determines the finality of an order or judgment by looking to what the order or judgment actually does, not what it is called.") Therefore, the dismissal is an appealable order. See NRAP 3A(b)(1). Cf. Bergenfield v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP, 131 Nev. 683, 686, 354 P.3d 1282, 1284 (2015) (italics added) ("a district court order dismissing a complaint with leave to amend is not final and appealable").

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should decide this appeal. Each issue is "a question of statewide public importance" NRAP 17(a)(12). Moreover, at least one of the issues – the first issue – presents an opportunity for the Court to discuss Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct 3.3(a)(1)-(2) using the unfortunate events that occurred in the district court to underscore the importance of those rules. *See id*.³ Finally, the second and third issues may be considered "question[s] of first impression" *Id*. at 17(a)(11) (alteration in brackets).

-

³ This "case" does not "involv[e] attorney admission, suspension, discipline, disability, reinstatement, [or] resignation." NRAP 17(a)(4) (alterations in brackets). However, the Court has reminded – and should remind – a litigant of "its obligation to disclose to a tribunal legal authority in the controlling jurisdiction known by the [litigant] to be directly adverse to its position and not disclosed by opposing counsel." *Archanian v. State*, 122 Nev. 1019, 1039-40, 145 P.3d 1008, 1023 (2006) (alteration in brackets) (citing RPC 3.3(a)(2))).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue No. 1: In this retained object lawsuit brought pursuant to NRS 41A.100(1), did the district court error in dismissing the Complaint for want of an expert affidavit, considering that the Court has held "that the expert affidavit requirement in NRS 41A.071 *does not apply* to a res ipsa loquitur case under NRS 41A.100(1)[?]" *Szydel v. Markman*, 121 Nev. 453, 461, 117 P.3d 200, 205 (2005) (italics added) (alteration in brackets).⁴

Issue No. 2: Did the district court error in dismissing the Complaint under NRCP 12(b)(5) based on unstated, unsupported assumptions about surgery and human anatomy?

Issue No. 3: Did the district court error in denying Ventura leave to amend based on its (mistaken) belief that there were "inconsistencies in Plaintiff's allegations" (J.App.095), considering it was obligated to "freely give leave when justice so requires[?]" NRCP 15(a)(2) (alteration in brackets).

xii

⁴ It is unclear whether this issue should be argued under NRCP 12(b)(1) or NRCP 12(b)(5). *Cf. Peck v. Zipf*, 133 Nev. 890, 892-93, 407 P.3d 775, 778 (2017) (reviewing a district court's grant of a defendant's motion for judgment on the pleadings under NRCP 12(c), due to a plaintiff's failure to attach an expert affidavit, using the standard for a motion to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(5)).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ventura filed this lawsuit against G&G because they unintentionally left an object in him after performing surgery on him. (J.App.001-J.App.019.) G&G filed a motion to dismiss "pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and NRS 41A.071"

(J.App.032.) Ventura filed a response. (J.App.065-J.App.076.) G&G filed a reply. (J.App.077-J.App.087.) Ultimately, the district court entered an order dismissing this matter without prejudice and without leave to amend. (J.App.091-J.App.097.) Ventura appeals the dismissal. (J.App.107-J.App.108.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Ventura alleged that G&G unintentionally left an object in him after performing surgery on him.

On October 24, 2016, G&G performed surgery on Ventura. (J.App.002-

J.App.003, ¶3.) In this lawsuit, Ventura alleged that G&G performed surgery on him and unintentionally left an object in him after that surgery:

- 1) . . . David Alvarez Ventura . . . was injured by M.D. John H. Ganser, and a company that is named, Gomez, Kozar, McElreath and Smith a professional corporation, doing business as Western Surgical Group. That defendants injured plaintiff by *leaving surgical* instruments within him that caused extreme pain and suffering. additional surgery was needed to remove part of the instrument to relieve some pain, and additional scarring.
- 2) That plaintiff was reasonably diligent in seeking the source of his pain but that a surgical instrument that Dr. Ganser had left in him and then concealed . . . caused injury by professional negligence by the provider of health care, to the plaintiff. . . .
- 3) On 10-24-16, Surgeon John H. Ganser, M.D., along with surgical staff: Curtis J. Smith, P.A., Circulator: Julie A. Bloos, R.N., Relief Circulator: Marjorie Rowson, R.N. performed laparoscopic surgery on David Alvarez Ventura (herein after Ventura). During this surgery the above named defendants left a foreign metal object in Ventura's body 5

⁵ The surgery was a "Robotic Heller Esophagomyotomy, Anterior Fundoplication." (J.App.003, ¶5, referring to J.App.013-J.App.014.) On March 19, 2020, Ganser authenticated the medical record containing this description. (J.App.025, ¶4) ("Exhibit 2 to Plaintiff's Complaint . . . is a copy of a page from Mr. Ventura's medical chart . . . ") Yet, five months later, the lawyers for G&G suggested that the medical record – previously authenticated by their client – may not pertain to Ventura. (J.App.078, lines 25-27) (citation omitted) ("The word 'allegedly' is used because the operative report attached to plaintiff's Complaint for the procedure performed by Dr. Ganser identifies a patient other than plaintiff.")

- 9) . . . Thus the doctrin [sic] of Res Ipsa Loquitur applies as the aforementioned defendants [sic] actions, error or ommission [sic] upon which this action is based was consealed [sic] from plaintiff. . . .
- 15) Dr. Ganser left foreign [sic] metal object in Ventura's body
- 16) Defendants, Gomez, Kozar, McElreath and Smith, a professional corporation, doing business as Western Surgical Group, did on 10-24-16 failed [sic] in their duty to antisipate [sic] or guard against injury to plaintiff by failing to use reasonable care to supervise the conduct of Dr. Ganser *and* make sure all surgical instruments were accounted for during and after Ventura's surgery. This resulted in the actual and reasonable [sic] probable causes to which plaintiff's injuries, pain, suffering, and additional surgery was needed [sic].

(J.App.001-J.App.008, ¶¶1-3, 9, 15-16) (italics added) (internal footnote added).

After the surgery, Ventura underwent several imaging studies. *See infra*.

"On 9-15-17 a radiology report by Dr. Kim Adamson was done and the findings were 'unremarkable." (J.App.003, ¶6.) However, "On 11-30-18 Dr. Leon Jackson M.D., NNCC issued a report that discovered a foreign body; a linear metal object that inside [sic] Ventura's body[.]" (J.App.004, ¶7) (alteration in brackets). Ultimately, "this foreign metal object that was left in Ventura's body during surgery was removed by Dr. Peter A. Caravella during a later surgery on 3-28-19." (J.App.002-J.App.003, ¶3.) Ventura alleged that the object was "a hypodermic needle in contradiction to Dr. Jackson's report dated 11-30-18." (J.App.006, ¶11.)

⁶ Dr. Jackson stated: "This seems unlikely to be related to the patient's history of previous esophageal surgery." (J.App.004, ¶7.)

Based on these events, Ventura sued G&G for damages. (J.App.001-J.App.019.) G&G moved to dismiss the Complaint. (J.App.032-J.App.036.)

II. G&G filed a motion to dismiss because Ventura did not attach an expert affidavit to the Complaint.

On June 8, 2020, G&G filed a motion to dismiss "pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and NRS 41A.071" (J.App.032, line 25.) They made *one* argument: "Although Plaintiff's Complaint purports to allege a claim for medical malpractice, it is unaccompanied by a medical expert's affidavit, as mandated by NRS 41A.071. and must be dismissed without prejudice and without leave to amend." (J.App.033, lines 7-10.) Throughout their opening brief, G&G told the district court – without a single reference to a specific allegation in the Complaint – that the affidavit requirement was "mandatory" (J.App.033, line 20), "absolutely mandatory" (J.App.034, line 14), and "require[d]." (J.App.035, line 9) (alteration in brackets).

⁷ G&G did not inform the district court that the Court had previously-rejected their oversimplified classification-dictates-requirement approach in other matters. In the Complaint, Ventura referred to "Count One, Medical Malpractice" and "Count Two, Medical Malpractice." (J.App.007-J.App.008.) However, those headings did not automatically trigger the expert affidavit requirement. *See Szymborski v. Spring Mt. Treatment Ctr.*, 133 Nev. 638, 642-43, 403 P.3d 1280, 1285 (2017). Even if G&G intended their argument to be slightly more complex, first equating "medical malpractice" with "professional negligence," then suggesting that a plaintiff pursuing a claim for "professional negligence" must attach an expert affidavit to the Complaint, the Court previously rejected this one-size-fits-all approach. *See Estate of Curtis v. S. Las Vegas Med. Inv'rs, LLC*, 136 Nev. Adv. Rep. 39, 466 P.3d 1263, 1268 n.4 (2020). Notably, G&G did not cite *Estate of Curtis* in their opening brief. *Cf.* NRPC 3.3(a)(1).

G&G made this argument without specifically alerting the district court to Szydel v. Markman, 121 Nev. 453, 117 P.3d 200, not once referencing that decision in their opening brief. (J.App.032-J.App.036.)8

On August 5, 2020, Ventura filed Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. (J.App.065-J.App.076.) Ventura argued: "The facts as alleged in Plaintiff's verified transferred complaint clearly allege facts, which if proven

⁸ Presumably, counsel for G&G knew about Szydel when they filed their opening brief. Cf. NRPC 3.3(a)(1)-(2). In their opening brief, G&G cited Zohar v. Zbiegien. 130 Nev. 733, 334 P.3d 402 (2014) (J.App.034, lines 19-20), which referred to Szydel; they also cited Szymborski, 133 Nev. 638, 403 P.3d 1280. (J.App.035, lines 1-2.) In Szymborski, the Court cited Szydel for the following: "an NRS 41A.071 medical expert affidavit is not required when the claim is for one of the res ipsa loquitur circumstances set forth in NRS 41A.100[.]" 133 Nev. at 643, 403 P.3d at 1285 (alteration in brackets). In fact, counsel for G&G cited Szydel in a different case, more than a year earlier. See Respondent's Answering Brief 22-23, 30, Jaramillo v. Ramos, Supreme Court of the State of Nevada, Case No. 77385 (available at https://nvcourts.gov/Supreme/How_Do_I/Find_a_Case/). The Court issued its decision in that case (Jaramillo v. Ramos, 136 Nev. Adv. Rep. 17, 460 P.3d 460 (2020)) approximately two months before G&G filed their motion to dismiss in this case. In Jaramillo, the Court reiterated: "we have held that NRS 41A.100(1) expressly excuses a plaintiff from the requirement to submit an expert affidavit with a medical malpractice complaint." 136 Nev. Adv. Rep. 17, 460 P.3d at 463 (citing Szydel, 121 Nev. at 459, 117 P.3d at 204).

⁹ The district court provided Ventura extra time to serve his opposition. (J.App.059-J.App.064.) In its Order Granting Plaintiff's Request for Extension of Time and Holding in Abeyance Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Defer Consideration of Normal Prison Operations, the district court recognized the existence of "enumerated res ipsa loquitur exceptions' to the expert affidavit requirement of NRS 41A.071." (J.App.063) (citation omitted). Even then, counsel for G&G failed to immediately apprise the district court of legal authorities they (presumably) knew about, which were "directly adverse to the position" they took on behalf of G&G in their opening brief. Nev. R. of Prof'l Conduct 3.3(a)(1)-(2).

true, entitle Plaintiff to relief under applicable law and the ambit of res ipsa loquitur exemptions codified at NRS §§ 41A.071 and 41A.100(1)(A)."

(J.App.066.) Thereafter, Ventura discussed the surgery he underwent and the "foreign body negligently abandoned in his person during the course of surgical procedures[,]" all as alleged in the Complaint. (J.App.068) (alteration in brackets).

On August 13, 2020, G&G filed their Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. (J.App.077-J.App.087.) Notwithstanding the district court's explicit recognition of exceptions to the expert affidavit requirement (J.App.063), G&G continued to argue that the Complaint was deficient because Ventura did not attach an expert affidavit to it:

Nevada law required plaintiff to attach a supporting expert affidavit to his Complaint in compliance with the affidavit requirement of NRS 41A.071. Plaintiff cannot excuse his non-compliance by making a conclusory and unsupported allegation that 'surgical instruments' were left in his body during the 2016 surgery, especially when the exhibits attached to his Complaint contradict his unsupported assertions. For this reason alone, Dr. Ganser's motion should be granted.

Moreover, plaintiff's *res ipsa loquitur* theory is not even arguably applicable to Dr. Ganser's medical practice, Western Surgical Group, against whom plaintiff has alleged negligent supervision, but for which he has failed to provide a supporting medical expert affidavit or any basis for applying *res ipsa loquitur*.

(J.App.079, line 18-J.App.080, line 6) (citation omitted). In fact, G&G went so far as to argue: "there are no facts in the Complaint that implicate the *res ipsa loquitur* doctrine, especially as to Western Surgical Group." (J.App.081, lines 19-21.) Thereafter, G&G argued, *for the first time*, why, in their opinion, "the very documents cited in, and attached to, his Complaint belie the argument in plaintiff's opposition." (J.App.081, lines 21-22.)

On September 4, 2020, the district court entered its Order Granting Motion to Dismiss Without Prejudice. (J.App.091-J.App.097.) The district court explained:

The res ipsa loquitur exception requires 'some evidence' of one of the factual predicates enumerated in NRS 41A.100(1). Johnson v. Egtedar, 112 Nev. 428, 433-34 (1996). Although the Court does not consider matters outside the pleadings when ruling a [sic] motion to dismiss, Plaintiff's pleadings fail to logically support a viable claim under the res ipsa loquitur exception.

(J.App.093.) Echoing the argument G&G first made in their reply, the district court continued:

For instance, Plaintiff alleges that a surgical instrument was left in his body by during [sic] a surgery performed by Defendant's [sic] on October 24, 2016. Plaintiff further alleges that an ultrasound performed on September 15, 2017, failed to identify the instrument. A subsequent ultrasound, conducted on November 30, 2018, identified the surgical instrument for the first time. However, the radiology report of ultrasound states that '[it] seems unlikely to be related to the patient[']s history of previous esophageal surgery [referring the [sic] October 24, 2016 surgery].' These contradictions suggest Plaintiff's allegations are unsupported and insufficient to meet the *res ipsa*

7

¹⁰ G&G later acknowledged that the Complaint could be interpreted to include a claim for vicarious liability against Gomez. (J.App.086, lines 1-3.)

loquitur exception. Unable to meet the res ipsa loquitur exception, Plaintiff is subject to the affidavit requirement. Having not provided the required affidavit, this Court must dismiss Plaintiff's complaint without prejudice. Washoe Med. Ctr. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 122 Nev. 1298, 1304 (2006).

Furthermore, even in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, the complaint and exhibits' contradictions render Plaintiff's allegations as mere conclusory and based on unreasonable inferences.

(J.App.093-J.App.094) (alterations in brackets; some brackets in original) (internal footnotes omitted) (footnote omitted). Notably, the district court did not address Ventura's allegation that: "The cause was not known until the surgery performed by Dr. Caravella on 3-28-19 when it appeared to be a hypodermic needle in contradiction to Dr. Jackson's report dated 11-30-18. (J.App.006, ¶11.)

Thereafter, the district court denied Ventura leave to file an amended complaint. (J.App.094-J.App.095.) The district court denied leave based on its interpretation of *Washoe Medical Center*, 122 Nev. 1298, 148 P.3d 790, and because, in its view, "no viable amendment would relieve Plaintiff from the affidavit requirement." (J.App.094.) On the latter point, the district court – ostensibly accepting the argument that G&G *first made in their reply* – explained:

Plaintiff reaches his allegations through the unreasonable inference that Defendants' malpractice is responsible for the presence of the instrument which; (1) was removed from an entirely different area of Plaintiff's body than Defendants' operated on;¹¹ (2) failed to appear

Although not argued below, possibly due to the district court's order prohibiting amendment, it is interesting that the district court relied on this (supposed) fact when granting G&G's motion to dismiss. *Cf.* NRS 41A.100(1)(d) (providing a

on an ultrasound performed a year after the surgery; (3) the ultrasound that first identified the instrument occurred two years after the alleged malpractice, and one year after the first ultrasound which failed to identify the instrument; and (4) the report of the second ultrasound states that the presence of the instrument is unlikely related to the surgery performed by Defendants. Because of this unreasonable inference to reach the allegations, the Court finds that any attempt to amend the complaint to demonstrate that an affidavit is not required would be futile.

(J.App.094-J.App.095) (internal footnote added). The district court concluded:

In sum, the inconsistencies in Plaintiff's allegations fail to invoke NRS 41A.100(1)'s medical expert affidavit exception and overcome Defendants' *Motion to Dismiss*. Moreover, adherence to Nevada Supreme Court precedent, the Court finds the plaintiff is not entitled to leave to amend. The Court further exercises its discretion to find that an amendment demonstrating why there is not a need for an affidavit would be futile.

(J.App.095.) Ventura appeals. (J.App.107-J.App.108.)

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