#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Aug 02 2021 08:30 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

DAVID ALVAREZ VENTURA,

No. 81850

Appellant,

VS.

JOHN H. GANSER, M.D. LIC #9279; AND GOMEZ, KOZAR, MCELREATH AND SMITH, A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION,

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE; THE HONORABLE BARRY L. BRESLOW, DISTRICT JUDGE DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. CV20-00866

## RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

ALICE CAMPOS MERCADO (SBN 4555) LEMONS, GRUNDY & EISENBERG 6005 Plumas Street, Third Floor Reno, Nevada 89519

Telephone: (775) 786-6868

Email: acm@lge.net

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

Ventura's contention that he did not need to attach an expert affidavit to the complaint simply because he alleged that a foreign substance was left during the 2016 surgery completely disregards the foregoing legal principles and the facts underlying this appeal. *See AOB 11-12*.

Among the facts Ventura ignores is that complaint did not even allege a cause of action under NRS 41A.100(1)(a). In fact, he did not even mention the statute. *J.App. 001-09*. While Ventura mentioned res ipsa loquitur in the complaint, he did not allege that the doctrine exempted him from complying with the affidavit requirement. He only mentioned res ipsa loquitur in reference to his statute of limitations argument. *J.App.* 005, ¶9. Ventura went to great lengths to argue that the statutes of limitations of NRS 41A.097 were tolled, but not once did he allege that the res ipsa loquitur statute excused him from complying with the affidavit requirement. Instead, in furtherance of his "tolling" argument, Ventura alleged that the withholding of information "would have hindered a reasonably diligent plaintiff from procuring an expert affidavit under NRS 41A.071." *J.App.* 005, ¶9.

It was not until Ventura filed his opposition to Dr. Ganser's motion to dismiss that he argued NRS 41A.100(1)(a) exempted him from the affidavit requirement. *Compare J.App. 001-09 and J.App. 065-68*. The district court was not required to consider this new argument or the exhibits attached to Ventura's opposition. *See Broam v. Bogan*, 320 F.3d 1023, 1026 n. 2 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003) ("In determining the propriety of a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal, a court may not look beyond the complaint to a plaintiff's moving papers, such as a memorandum in opposition to a defendant's motion to dismiss.") (citation omitted). Yet, the district court considered Ventura's newly asserted arguments, along with the evidence before it.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The district court correctly observed that it "may consider exhibits attached to the pleadings and incorporated by reference when ruling on a motion to dismiss without transposing the motion into a motion for summary judgment." *J.App. 094, fn. 4, citing Breliant v. Preferred Equities Corp.,* 109 Nev. 842, 847 and *Schmidt v. Washoe Cty.,* 123 Nev. 128, 133, [159 P.3d 1099] (2007), [abrogated on other grounds in Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of North Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 181 P.3d 670 (2008).

Unlike Ventura's opening brief, the district court did not disregard the legal principles in *Johnson* and *Szydel* in its thorough analysis of the res ipsa statute. Applying applicable Nevada law, the district court aptly noted that the res ipsa loquitur exception to NRS 41A.071 requires "some evidence" of one of the factual predicates enumerated in NRS 41A.100(1). *J.App. 093, citing Johnson*, 112 Nev. at 433-34 [915 P.2d at 274]. In determining that Ventura had not presented any such evidence to support the application of NRS 41A.100(1)(a), the district court found that "Plaintiff's pleadings fail to logically support a viable claim under the *res ipsa loquitor* exception." *J.App. 093*.

Expounding on its finding, the district court compared Ventura's conclusory allegation that a surgical instrument was left in his body during the 2016 surgery with his contradictory allegations in the complaint and the attached exhibits. Rather than support the application NRS 41A.100(1)(a), the evidence refuted that a foreign object was left during the October 2016 surgery. *J.App. 093*. The district court's findings are supported by the record.

For instance, the district court correctly noted that Ventura had alleged that an ultrasound of his abdomen performed on September 15, 2017 failed to identify the instrument he claimed to have been left behind during the October 2016 surgery. J.App. 093; compare J.App. 003, ¶6 and J.App. 016. Indeed, the ultrasound report attached as Exhibit 3 to the complaint states: "Impression: Unremarkable ultrasound of the abdomen." *J.App. 016*.

The district court next noted that a subsequent ultrasound, conducted on November 30, 2018 [two years post-surgery], identified an object for the first time, but the report of that ultrasound stated "[it] seems unlikely to be related to the patient[']s history of previous esophageal surgery [referring the October 24, 2016 surgery]." *J.App. 093; compare J.App. 004, ¶7 and J.App. 018.* Based on these undisputed contradictions in the body of the complaint and in the exhibits thereto, the district court found that "Plaintiff's allegations are unsupported and insufficient to meet the *res ipsa loquitor* exception." *J.App. 093.* The district court thus ruled:

Unable to meet the *res ipsa loquitor* exception, Plaintiff is subject to the affidavit requirements. [Footnote omitted]. Having not provided the required affidavit, this Court must dismiss Plaintiff's complaint without prejudice. *Washoe Med. Ctr. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court*, 122 Nev. 1298, 1304 (2006).

J.App. 093 (footnote omitted, discussed infra). The district court concluded that "even in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, the complaint and exhibits' contradictions render Plaintiff's allegations as mere conclusory and based on unreasonable inferences." J.App. 094 (footnote omitted).

The district court's rulings are consistent with Nevada law, which requires a plaintiff to "present facts and evidence that show the existence of one or more of the situations enumerated in NRS 41A.100(1)(a)-(e)." *Szydel*, 121 Nev. at 460, 117 P.3d

at 205. No such facts or evidence were presented, either in the complaint, its exhibits, or in Ventura's opposition to Dr. Ganser's motion to dismiss. Instead, Ventura simply offered the conclusory allegation that a foreign object had been left in his body during the October 2016 laparoscopic surgery. *See J.App. 001-009* 

Appellant's Opening Brief does not demonstrate reversible error in the district court's findings and conclusions. Citing only to the conclusory allegations in the complaint, Ventura simply argues that he did not need to attach an expert affidavit to the complaint "under *Szydel* and its progeny," because Ventura had alleged that "G&G performed surgery on him" and "unintentionally left an object in him after the surgery." *AOB 12*. Neither the law nor the evidence supports Ventura's position.<sup>11</sup>

Rather than support Ventura's overly simplistic argument, *Szydel* and the other cases listed in footnote 12 of the opening brief support the district court's order

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Included in the cases that purport to be "progeny" of *Szydel* are *Estate of Curtis* and *Szymborski*. *AOB 12, fn. 12*. Although both cases cite *Szydel*, neither case involves the *res ipsa loquitur* exception to NRS 41A.071. The issue in *Szymborski* was whether asserted claims were for medical malpractice, thus requiring dismissal under NRS 41A.071, or for ordinary negligence or other ostensible tort. 133 Nev. at 643, 403 P.3d at 1285. The primary issue in *Estate of Curtis* was whether a nurse's mistake in administering a drug to the wrong patient and the alleged failure to monitor the patient were matters of professional negligence subject to NRS 41A.071. *Estate of Curtis*, 136 Nev. at 351, 466 P.3d at 1265. Notably, in *Estate of Curtis*, this court ruled that res ipsa loquitur *did not* relief the plaintiff of its duty to file an expert affidavit. 136 Nev. at 358-59, 466 P.3d at 1270. Thus, neither case supports Ventura's argument.

of dismissal. As noted above, *Szydel* plainly states that "the plaintiff *must present facts and evidence* that show the existence of one or more of the situations enumerated in NRS 41A.100(1)(a)-(e)." *Szydel*, 121 Nev. at 460, 117 P.3d at 205 (emphasis added). Ventura's position also finds no support in *Cummings v. Barber*, 136 Nev. 139, 460 P.3d 963 (2020) because the plaintiff in that case, unlike Ventura, had presented evidence that the physician had left a foreign substance in her body. Indeed, the physician admitted doing so, arguing that she had intentionally done so and it was not negligent for her to have done so. *Cummings*, 136 Nev. at 140-141, 460 P.3d at 965-966.

Similarly, in *Jaramillo v. Ramos*, 136 Nev. 134, 460 P.3d 460 (2020), this court stated in the context of a summary judgment motion that "all a plaintiff must do to survive summary judgment is *present evidence* that the facts giving rise to NRS 41A.100(1)'s presumption of negligence exist—i.e., that at least one of the factual circumstances enumerated in NRS 41A.100(1)(a)-(e) exists." *Jaramillo*, 136 Nev. at 137, 460 P.3d at 464. In that case, rather than baldly allege that a foreign substance had been left behind, the evidence showed that a wire had been left in the patient's breast. *Id.*, at 135, 460 P.3d at 462.

Neither *Jaramillo* nor *Cummings* bear any resemblance to this case, as Ventura seems to suggest. *AOB 16*. Unlike those cases, Ventura has not presented even a scintilla of evidence from which it can reasonably be inferred that *any* foreign

substance was left after the 2016 laparoscopic surgery performed by Dr. Ganser. Indeed, his allegations and exhibits demonstrate otherwise. *J.App. 003, ¶6; J.App. 004, ¶7; J.App. 16 and 18.* As the district court found, Ventura's own allegations and the very medical records attached to his complaint "fail to logically support a viable claim under the *res ipsa loquitor* exception." *J.App. 093.* Not surprisingly, the district court concluded that *Jaramillo* did not compel a different conclusion because "unlike *Jaramillo*, Plaintiff has not pled 'facts entitling [him] to NRS 41A.100(1)(a)'s res ipsa loquitur theory of negligence.' That case is, therefore, readily distinguishable." *J.App. 93, fn. 2.* 

Appellant's cursory arguments do not demonstrate error in the district court's determination that Ventura's unsupported allegations were insufficient to meet the res ipsa loquitur exception to the affidavit requirement and that Ventura was therefore required, but failed, to comply with NRS 41A.071. *J.App. 093*.

## 2. The district court properly considered the arguments in the reply, which responded to those in Ventura's Opposition

Lacking any legal basis for challenging the district court's order, Ventura resorts to mischaracterizing respondents' reply and assailing the district court's understanding of NRCP 12(b)(5). Both of Ventura's arguments are untenable.

## a. The reply did not raise new arguments

Ventura is incorrect that the arguments in Dr. Ganser's reply were improperly considered because they were "first made" in the reply. Ventura's assertion that the motion to dismiss did not "discuss a single, specific allegation in the Complaint," or argue that the allegations in the complaint were "legally insufficient," ignores the purpose of a motion to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(5).

Specifically, the filing of a motion to dismiss calls into question whether the allegations in the complaint assert a claim for relief, *i.e.*, it challenges the sufficiency of the complaint, not necessarily of specific allegations. *See* NRCP 12(b)(5). To resolve the question, courts examine the allegations in the complaint "to determine whether the challenged pleading sets forth allegations sufficient to make out the elements of a right to relief." *See Edgar v. Wagner*, 101 Nev. 226, 227, 699 P.2d 110, 111 (1985). It is because the focus of the examination is the complaint that a plaintiff cannot survive a motion to dismiss by making new or alternate allegations in opposition to the motion to dismiss. *Schneider v. Cal. Dep't of Corr.*, 151 F.3d 1194, 1197 n.1. (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998). <sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See Exec. Management, Ltd. v. Ticor Title Ins., 118 Nev. 46, 53, 38 P.3d 872, 876 (2002) (federal caselaw interpreting and applying the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides strong persuasive authority for this court when interpreting parallel provisions of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure).

Yet, that is precisely what Ventura did in this case. Not only did he make new arguments, but he also attached new documents to his opposition. *J.App.* 069-74. Dr. Ganser's motion challenged the allegations in the complaint, none of which claimed that Ventura was excused from complying with NRS 41A.071 because he was making a res ipsa claim under NRS 41A.100(1)(a). *See J.App.* 001-009. It was not until Ventura filed his opposition to Dr. Ganser's motion to dismiss that he raised the issue of the applicability of NRS 41A.100(1)(a) to escape the affidavit requirement of NRS 41A.071. *J.App.* 066-68. In so doing, he cited *Szydel* for the proposition that no affidavit was required because of the res ipsa loquitur doctrine. *J.App.* 068.

Consequently, Dr. Ganser's reply pointed out that Ventura's opposition to defendants' motion to dismiss for failure to comply with NRS 41A.071 was advancing a new contention that he is exempt from the affidavit requirement of NRS 41A.071 because of the foreign substance exception in NRS 41A.100(1)(a). *J.App. 082.* Dr. Ganser objected to consideration of the new arguments and documents but was compelled to respond to them in the event the district court chose to consider them (which it did). *J.App. 082-83*.

Ventura's actions entitled Dr. Ganser to respond accordingly in his reply. *See*, *e.g.*, *Paniliant Financial Corp. v. ISEE3D*, *Inc.*, No. 2:12-cv-01376-PMP-CWH, 2014 WL 3592719, \*8 (D. Nev. 2014) (defendant's reply did not raise new

arguments or recite new facts because the reply responded to arguments raised in plaintiffs' opposition to the motion to dismiss). Dr. Ganser was entitled to address each of the arguments raised in the opposition to demonstrate that they were incorrect and/or untenable given the facts before the court. Thus, it was not error for the district court to consider each of the arguments in Dr. Ganser's reply in ruling on the motion to dismiss. *See Miller v. Glenn Miller Prods.*, 454 F.3d 975, 979, n.1 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006) (holding that the district court did not err in considering evidence first submitted in the moving party's reply to the moving opposition to summary adjudication where the evidence was introduced to counter claims made in the opposition, and the non-moving party could have asked the district court for permission to respond).

Equally untenable is Ventura's argument's of "systematic unfairness in the way judicial proceedings are conducted," that the district court violated Ventura's due process rights "and ratified an unmanageable approach to motions." *AOB 13-14.* Ventura had ample opportunity to address the applicability of the res ipsa loquitur exception to the affidavit, of which he was keenly aware as reflected in his opposition. *J.App. 065-68.* In fact, the district court granted Ventura's request for an additional 45 days to prepare and submit his opposition. *J.App. 062-63.* 

Ventura's assertion that the district court did not hold a hearing ignores that Ventura was an incarcerated plaintiff, and the courts were closed due to the COVID- 19 pandemic. Similarly unfounded is Ventura's assertion that the district court did not "permit a sur-reply." *AOB 13*. This assertion implies that Ventura asked for a sur-reply and that the district court denied his request. Such an implication is unsupported by the record. Indeed, nowhere in the record is there any indication that Ventura ever asked the district court to file a sur-reply, as evidenced by the lack of a citation in appellant's brief supporting this assertion. *See AOB 13*.

As this issue was not raised below, despite Ventura's opportunity to raise it, it need not be considered on appeal. *See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) (holding that this court need not consider an argument not raised below). If considered, it may be summarily rejected as meritless because it is simply false that Ventura was "unable to address G&G's new argument at all." *AOB 13*.

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